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Strategic report for the year ended 31 July 2023

The directors present theil Review of the business

Strategic report on the The principa! activity of the group is the provision of educational, recruitment and marketing
8(OUD fOF Th@ yPa( erwd@d services for international students through subsidiary undertakings and in partnership via joint

ventures with universities.
31 July 2023,

The subsidiary and associated undertakings of the group are listed in Note 22 to the
financial statements.

The principal activity of the company in the year under 1eview was that of the provisian of
marketing, management and other corporate services induding 1o the company's joint ventures
ard direct recruitment of students or behalf of partrers ard affiliates

Business strategy

INTO's mission is to transform international students’ academic and career success through
exceptionat university partnerships. The unified strategy to defiver this mission covers 3 core
pillars and is supported by the INTO culture of growing together:

« Exceptional university partnerships including student academic and career
success. INTO partner with unwersities across US, UK, Europe and Australia to support
their internationalisation strategies, including' delivering pathway programmes, advising on
university courses & programmes, implementing sales & activation in student markets, and
performing enrolment services, The on-campus teams teach and support our international
students, driving higher progression rates to university, retention to degree, and ultimately,
better employability prospects.

« Differentiation in market. INTC ensure universities’ propositions are differernated n
increasingly competitive markets, and leverage our unique recruitment network and university
access centre (UAC) infrastructure to create diverse demand.

= Enrolment excellence. INTO ensure a transparent and reliable application and arnval process
for students, agents, and university partners,
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Results and performance

The results of the group for the year, as seT out on pages 21 10 26, show that overall
performance for FY 23, whilst continuing to be impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, are
recovering as mare locations reduce restrictions on international student mebility and volumes
and revenue therefore increases, The results show turnover up 16% to £ 111,637k (2022
£96,131k). Management monitor and review the business an a constant foreign exchange basis
including the group's share of joint venture performance. On this basis adjusted turnover is up
13% to £159,586k (2022 £140,797k). The group and share of joint ventures gperating 10ss
improved £4,327k to aloss of £7,750k {202¢: loss of £12,077),

Net earnings before interest, tax, deprediation and amartization (EBITDA), measured at current
year foreign exchange rate, is a profit of £1,282k animarovemertof £5,320k cn the frior year
(2022 loss of £4,038k). The shareholders’ deficit for the group totals £7,012«(2022: surplus
of £3,731k).

The group has a £ 30m revolving credit facility to help to provide flexibility as required duri~g
the penod. At 31 |uly 2023 £20.2m of the facility was drawn. This has enabled investments in
new operations in Australia, a number of new university access centres globally and continued
investment in systems and people

The year end tash balance was £14,143k (2022 £9,437k). While the group generated positive
EBITDA there has been a reduction in group cash position &s investments in capital expenditure
and new business areas have continued to be protected. The group has covenants agreed with

its bankers to February 2025 showing the forecast recovery and continues to track in line with

these requirements. The group is expecting to continue to use the facility in FY24 for working

caplidl puiposes,

Strategically, INTO signed 3 new UK partnership with Lancaster University 1o operate a new on-
campus Pathway programme and signed new US partnerships with University of Massachusetts
Amherst, Montclair State University and the University of Oklahoma for direct entry recruitment.
INTO also opened new university access centers in Dubai and Almaty, launched the INTO

digital student community platform, and continued to develop the digital experience for the
application process.
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Key performance indicators ("KPIs")

The Board monitors progress against the company's strategy by reference to the following KPls:

2023 2022

£000 £'000
Adjusted turnover * 159,586 140,797
Net EBITDA* 1,282 (4,038)
Adjusted EBITDA*™* 8,136 3441
Underlying group ard share of joint ventures aperating loss (4,817} {11,883)
Student satisfaction 90% 93%
(Cash 14,143 9,437

-

Adjusted tuinover is calcuated as statutory turnover £ us the group's shate of jaint venture turnover This fe ps NTO 1o

ensLre 't is measunng the value we deliver to our Partners furnover s adjusted to remove discontinued operabicrs and

the prior year is aresenied at current year fore'gn exchange ates

** Net EBITOA 15 3 metric used by management o assess the anderly rg nerfarmance of the business T-us metnc adjusts
for non-corerminous vear ends and other timing movernents and is megsured at current year foreign exchange and
ingudes group and share of joint ventures

= Adjusted EBITJA. In addition to the adjustirents above. TS ReINC also ady:sts for losses incarred far bath new

-

partnershios ard preducts, one of f items ard ooard cests, which can distort profitatulity This metnc is a so measwured at
current year foreign exchange and ing udes group and share of jon: vertures

2023 2022
£000 £'000
Turnover 111,637 36131
Share of joint venture turnover 47,851 42226
Adjust prior year at current year foreign exchange rates - 2455
Adjust for discontinued operations (2) (15}
Adjusted twrnover {at constant foreign exchange rates) 159,586 140,797
2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Croup and share of joint ventures operating loss (7.750) (L2077}
Add: group and share of joint ventures administrative exceptional 2,933 194
charge
Add. depreciation and amortisation 4,730 5055
Add: share of joint ventures’ depreciation and amaortisation 1,416 1,262
Adjustment for non-coterminous year end and cther timing {47) 1,268
movements
Adjustment to current year foreign exchange rates - 260
Net EBITDA {at constant foreign exchange rates) 1,282 {4,038)
Boarc ard one off costs 2,093 1150
New partnership and product start-up losses 4,761 6,329

Adjusted EBITDA {at constant foreign exchange rates) 8,136 3441
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Principal risks and uncertainties

The process of risk acceptance and risk management is addressed through a framewark of
policies, procedures and internal controls. All policies are subject to Board approval and ongoing
review by management. Compliance with regulation, legat and ethical standards is a high
priarity for the group and the group finance department take on an imaortant oversight rale in
this regard See the statement on governance and internal contral for more details on the risk
management proress.

The directors consider the following 1o be principal risks and uncertainties facing the company:

» giohal pandemic and the consequent impact on the abilty of international students to travel;

» global econamic recession, inflatonary pressures and interest rates,

* cherges to government regulaticns, part:cularly those affecting student visas; and

= natural disasters, acts of terrorism and the consequent impact on the ability of internaticnat
students to travel.

The Board actively monitors these risks on an on-going basis. The impact of the global pandemic
and the mitigation and actions taken have been discussed elsewhere in this report. The Board
believe that high quality student education remains a priority for parents during recession and
therefore work to develop the product portfolio to ensure that INTQ remains an educator of
choice in the event of any downturn, New initiatives are constantly being developed to attract
ard retain high quality students and the tourses the groun offers are reviewed to ensure that
they remain re-evant and compet:itive. Inflationary pressures are being monitored ard actions
taken where possibie to manage these. Staff costinflation is being seen in many markets as in
other industries ard te Board review these as part of the wider financial forecasting process.

Government regulations in both the countries that INTQO recruit students from and the countries
students’ study in, are monitored and the impacts of any changes assessed and understood. As
the group has a portfolio of countries in bothits recruitment markets and education markets the
impact of any one change on the business is lessened. The Board have continued 1o pursue a
strategy of diversifying in both markets to ensure this continues to be the case.

Any items which impact students’ willingness or ability 1o travel internationally; be those natural
disasters, terrorism or the general openness of a country for international students impact the
group. The directors keep abreast of these risks through market awareness, building rebust
working relationships with partners and developing a strong senior management team and react
to these market forces as deemed appropriate in each location,
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Outlook

INTO anticipate the continuing recovery of financial derformance -n the yea-ending 31 July 2024
and have sean significant growth in new stucen: enralments n the Aug-Nov 23 intake. “he
group have prepared a forecast based on student volumes continuing 1c recover and have worked
with our partners and sta*f o respond to this Careful monitoring of delivery of the strategic

plan will continue into FY24 and shouid enable INTO to continue to invest in new products,
recruitment, and technology to help ensure the future business will continue to thrive.

Statement by the directors in performance of their statutory duties in
accordance with s172 (1) Companies Act 2006

The directars consider, both individually and collectively, that they have acted in the way they
consider in good faith would promote the success of the group for the aenefit of its members as
a whole (having regard to the stakeholders and matters set outin s172(1)(a-f) of the Act)in the
decisions taken during the year ended 31 |uly 2023 and in creating the future business plans
(the “business plans"):

= INTO oriversity Partnerships’ business plans are cesigried to have a long-term beneficial
impact on the group and 1o contribute 1o its success by providing high quality international
education to our students and allowing our partners 1¢c meet their internationalisation aims

+  Our employees are fundamental to the delivery of the business plans, and we aimto be @
resporsible and attractive employer in our approach to pay and the benefits our employees
receive, an inclusive and enabling culture within the company and the opportunities they have
to develop their careers,

« INTQ University Partrerships’ business plans rely on developing long-term relationships
with suppliers and customers, enabling the group 1o gain a detailed understanding of their
requirements and priorities. We aim 1o act responsibly and fairly in how we engage with
all stakeholders and a focus on ‘partnership’ is ingrained in our business operaticns and
processes The COVID-19 pandemic has meant changes to some of our partnershig models
but duc to the relationships INTO have built with cur university partners the group have been
abre to fexbly change the madel to respond o the chang ng reguirements of our partners,

¢ INTO University Partnerships considers the impact of the group's operaticns on the
community and the environment All employees can Take up to 2 paid days per year to
volunteer at a non-p-ofit organ sation of he r choice In order to contribute o aither their lozal
community or a cause that is important to them.

« As directors our intentionis to behave respansibly and ensure that management operate the
business with high standards of conduct and governance, and regulatory compliance in order
to ersure that our shareholders benefit from the delivery of the INTO group's business plans.
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Statement of Corporate Governance and Internal Control

Goverpance

INTO University Partnerships (‘INTO") is a registered higher education provider and is recorded
an the Office for Students ("OfS") register of providers. INTO was registered ir September 2070
and therefore applies the accounts direction published by the OfS in these accounts (see Note
5 for further disclosure in this respect). This statement of corporate governance sets out how
INTO ensures:

a. transparency about its corporate governance arrangements; and

b. the adequacy and effectiveness of arrangements for corpa-ate governance, risk management
and the oversight of any statutory and other regulatory responsitilities, including compliance
with INTO's ongoing conditions of registration.

INTO is a private limited company and as suchit is governed by its Board of Directors {the "Board”),
For OfS purposes the Board s also the Governing Body. The Board has an established governance
framework which details its primary responsibilities. This framework has beenin place for the year
ended 31 Juy 2023 and up to the date of approval of the finanaal statements. The framewcrk exists

« Toensure that the company’s strategic direction remains both appropriate and achievable;
= To monitor organisational performance and evaluate the achievernent of the strategic and
Business plans and annual budget outcomes;
« Toensure the company has appropriate corporate governance structures in place including
standards of ethical behaviour and promate an agreed culture of environmental, sodlal and
governance responsibilities.
+ To establish the policy framework for governing the company from which atl operational
policies and actions are developed;
+ To assess risks facing the company, establish a risk management plan and
monitor compliance,
» Tomonitor and ensure that the company is complying with the ongoing conditions of
registration and any other regulatory requirements, as applicable to the company, established
from time 1o time by the OfS;
» Toensure that the company's Articles of Association and Governance Framework uphold all
public interest governance principles (the “PrinCiples”) as may be relevant to the company (35
prescribed by the OfS from time to time);
= Toestablish processes to monitor and evaluate the performance and effectiveness of the
Board 1tself;
= In the event the comaany 1s inreceipt of public funds, ensure there are adeguate and effective
arrangements in place such that those public funds are managed appropriately, in line with
the conditions of grant and the principles of regularity, propriety and value for money and to
protect the interests of taxpayers and other stakeholders. INTO is not currently in receipt of
any public funds;
« Toensure any applicable obligations imposed by section 145(1) of the Equality Act 2010 (the
"Act”) on public autharities are complied with {the "Public Secter Equality Buty”), recognising
the need to have due regard 1o:
= elminate discrimination, harassment, victimisatton and any other conduct thatis
prohibited by ar under the Act;

= advance equality of opportunity between persons wha share a relevant protected
charactenstic and persans who do not share it; and

= foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and
persons who do not share it.

« To take such steps as are reasonably practicable to ensure that freedom of speech within the
{aw is secured acrass the company; and

»  Toensue that staff while engaged in teaching have freedom within the law 10 question and
test received wisdom and to put forward new ideas and controversial or unpopular opinions
without placing themselves in jeopardy of losing their jobs or privileges they may have within
the company.
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The Board consists of Executive Directars, Non-Executive Chairman, Non-Executive Directors,
shareholder and investor-appointed Directors. The Board has established an Executive Team
and separate Audit, Remuneration and Nominations committees with tormally delegated duties
to ensure INTO's carporate governance arrangements are transparent with clear reporting

lines of responsibility. Each of the committees meets at regular intervals o discharge their
responsibilities under the delegated duties and terms of reference of the committee. The
tarms of reference of each committee are reviewad annually and ‘orrally signed off by the
Board, The Remuneration Committee is responsible Tor reviewing the applicability of the Higher
Educat.on senior staff remuneratior zode published by the Committee of Univers ty Chairs and
recommending resulting actions.

In the context of governance, the Audit Committes has a particularly important functionin
expressing opinons and giving assurances 1o the Board relating 2115 review of the effectiveness
of the arrangements for risk management, control and governance, The risk management
element of this role includes the review of the processes which lead to the statement oninternal
contrelin the financia' statements.

In accordance with best practice, in the last year the Board undertook an externally conducted
review of Board effectiveness. THe report was presented to the Board 1n March 2023 and shared
with the OfS. Its recommendations are being implemented.

Internal control

The Board and the committeas have responsibility for maintaining & sound system of internal
control that supposts the achievement of the group’s policies, aims and objectives whilst
safeguarding the funds and assets for which it is respensible. The system of internal control

is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of non-achievement of policics, aims and
objectives; it can therefore only provide reascnable 2nd not absolute assurance of effectiveness
andis designed to cover busiress, gperational anc corpiance nsks, not just financia. This
process has been in place for the year ended 31 July 2023 and up to the date of approval of the
Financial Statements. INTCO considers the internal control mechanisms it has in place as the maost
appropriate way of managing the risks posed 1o the INTO group.

The Board receives the minutes of the Audit Committee and periodic reports from the Chair of
the Audit Committee concerning internal control

The review of the effectivenass of the system of internal control is also informed by the work of
the Executive Team, who have responsibility for the development, maintenance, and continual
review of the internal control framework. The group does not have an internat audit function

but does have a nominated senior leader who ensures risk reviews are completed for business,
operational and comalignge risk. These risks are scored for likelihood, impact and velocity for each
area of the business and are presented to the Board on a quarterly basis with mitigation plans

as appropriate.

The group has established anti-bribery and fraud policies which are reviewed penodically. The
main emphasis of the fraud policy is on fraud prevention, achieved through risk assessment,
process design informed by awarenass of fraud risk, and 2y kesping sta*f alert torisks. The Audit
Committee has a standing agenda item relating to regulatory and/or compliance i1ssues so they
ran be highlighted and raised as appropriate There s regular reporting of fraud and irregularities
at the Audit Committee, During the year mandatory anti-bnbery and fraud training was
implemented for INTO group employees.

The Audit Committee also receives and evaluates any recommendations from the extemal
auditors in relation to cantrals. “he external guditors have not identified any significant
defiziencies in internat contral diring the course of their audit work “c- the year enced 31
July 2023



DocuSign Envelope 10: 4F52F676-40B1-46E0-ABYA-954137F362A0
INTO UNIVERSITY PARTNERSHIPS LIMITED

The Board recagnises it is ultimately responsible for ensuring a scund system of internal controls
is maintained and has appropriate measures in place to ensure such controls are continually
reviewed far cngeing effectiveness.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by:

Sir Danid Eastwesd 14/12/2023

Sir David Eastwood, Non Executive Chairman Date
/"5’///' = E— 14/12/2023

John Sykes, CEO Date
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Directors’ report for the year ended 31 July 2023

The directors present therr
Annual report together with
the audited consalidated
financial statemnents of the
group and company for the
vear ended 31 July 2023

Matters covered in the strategic report

In accordance with Section 414 of the Companies Act 2006 (Strategic Report and Directors’
Report) Regulations 2013, the group has chasen to include a Strategic Report. The
information in this report concerns the business review, principal risks and uncertainties and
future developments.

Results and dividends

The loss for the financial year amcunted to £13,723k (2022 1oss of £8..85k) The directors did
not pay a dividend in the year (2022 £nil}.

Financial risk management

The group 1s exposed to foreign exchange risk through the ownership of subsidiaries and joint
venture operations in North America and Asia and the income generated in these regions. The
group earrs sigrificant US Doltar income which as the GBP 1o USD exchange rate falls Cecorres
more valuable and vice versa Due to the COVIN-19 disruption in volumes and revenues the graup
have not forward hedged this income, but this is reviewed by the board on an ongoing basis.

The group has a £30m revolving credit faclity with its bankers The financial commitments in
relation to this facility are as disclosed in Note 15.

Thea Board do not consider the group to be subject to significant cash flow or quidity sk and,
aside fram the facillities above, does rot actively use any complex financial Instruments as cart of
its financial rsk management. 1115 exposed 1o the usual credit nsk and casn flow risk associated
with selling on credit and manages this through credit control procedures.

Directors

The directors of the company who were ir office during the year and up to the date of signing
the financial statements were'

A Colin

D S Eastwood

| T Leeds

C | Mairs

5 G Smale

| B Sykes

Q Streatfeild (resigned 31 March 2023}
N M Adlam (appointed 1 [anuary 2023)
T Todd {appointed 1 November 2022)

A Gigante {appointed 1 November 2022)

Company registration number

The company registration number is 05507863, The company is 4 limited company incorporated
in the United <ingdom The company's registered office s dezalled on page 3

Going concern

The firancial statemerts have been prepared on the guing conce r Jasis, which assumes that
the group will continue to be able to meet its habilities as they fall due for the relevant going
concern period, which runs to February 2025

The COVID 19 cnisis impacted the international education sector and more genarally student
mohinty Manageent have Taken steps 1o maintain the inancial resilie~ce of the group in the
short and long term through diligent liquidity planning including renegotiating the credit facilities
wrth its bankers. In addition, -isks relating to inflat on and other external factors have been
considered as disciosed in the "principal risks and uncertainties” section on page 7
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As aresudt, this uncertainty has been considered as part of the groups assessment of the going
concern basis in the preparation of the fnancial statements In preparing this analysis the board
have considered the group's ability to meet its liabilities based on various levels of reductions

in student numbers, as well as a number of cost mitigation strategies that can and have

been employed.

The group holds a £30m facility with HSBC Bank plc which has been extended to February 2025,
The covenants for the extension period to February 2025 move the facility 10 a quarterly test
of rterest cover and leverage from April 2024 reflacting the group’s positive performance and
outlook. Management will renegotiate this facility beyond this period at an appropriate time.
Management expect to use this facility in FY24 1o continue to invest in future growth strategies
and fund new centres in their start up phase. Management continues to monitor compliance
with the covenants required under the agreement. As at 31 July 2023 £20.2m was drawn under
this facility.

The Board have considered what level of reduction in student volumes and corresponding
mitigation would break a fadlity covenant and de not consider this reverse stress test scenario a
likely occurrence. Based on these circumstances, the Board believe that it remains appropriate to
prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis.

Afte- considering the cash flow project ons for the perod 1o “ebruary 2025, The directors
believe the group has sufficient funds to meet its liabilities as they fa'l due and have accordingly
prepared the financial statements on 2 going concern bas s.

Directors’ indemnities

As perm.tted by the Articles of Association, the directars have the benefit of anindemrnity which
is a qualifying third-party indemnity provis-on as defined by Sectior 234 o7 the companies Act
2005, The indemnity was in force throughout the last financial year and is currently i force The
company also purchased ard maintained throughout the finaraal year directors” and offirers’
liability insurance in respect of itself and its directors.

Charitable donations

INTO University Partnershias allocates a propartion of its profits to fund the operating costs
of INTO Civing, a charity supporting educational projects for poar and disadvantaged children
around the world. Durtng the year this amounted to £115,790 {(2022: £104,790).

Environmental, social and community issues

The company is committed to the promotion of environmental imtiatives and minimising
the emvirenmental impact o 17s businesses. Through focusing on ceating an efficent and
sustainable business the company Is taking steps to reduce its on-going carbon footprint

The INTO group is driven by the desire 1o prowvide life-changing experiences for our students.
Morecver, the investment and additional revenue generated are helping ta revitalise our partner
universities and the local and regional economy that surrounds them, The INTO group also works
closely with INTO Giving, a charity that supports educational and humanitarian projects for some
of the world's poorest and most disadvantaged children. The group supports INTO Giving through
fundraising activities, and througn staff volunteenng their time and skills

In 2022423, INTO Giving donated £115,790 in suppert of educational and humanitarian projects
in Pakistan, Lebanon, Vietnam, Tanzania, India, Indonesia and Zambia and operated an internship
programme for international students. Over the past year, funds raised by INTO employees

and students have, for example, supported schools with running costs, librarles, furniture,
safeguarding and other training.
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Statement of carbon emissions in compliance with Streamlined Energy and
Carbon Reporting (SECR}

The group presents the following details of its carbon usage, covering energy use and
associated greenhouse gas emissions relating to gas, electricity and transport, intensity ratios
ardinformation relating to energy efficiency actiors, compliant with UK :egislation set out

in the Streamtined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR) 21 January 2021, As allowed by the
regulations the summary below represents only the entities which meet the large size criteria for
the disclosure.

2023 2022

Total energy use covering electricity, gas, other fuels 6,126,134 4684480 kWwh
and transport

Total emissions generated through combustion of gas 276 245 10ee

Total emissions generated through use of purchased 833 799 tCD2e

electricity

Total emissions generated through use of heat and 390 170 1C02e

steam

Total emissions generated through business travel 19 - tC02e

Total gross emissions 1,516 1214 1C02e

Intensity ratio (total gross emissions) 4,39 351 keglOze
per sqft

Energy efficiency actions

The group is committed to responsible energy maragemert and aract.ce energy efficency
throughout our organisation, wherever 1t is cost effective We recognise that climate change is
one of the most senous environmental challenges currently threatening the global community
and understand we have a role to play in reducing greenhouse gas emissions.

The board has implemented the palicies below which have increased the business's energy
efficiency in the current financial year:

+ Moved to ncreased remote home working anc extended this hyb d working offering 1o non-
student facing employees as part of its glonal flexibility framework;

» Areconsiderat.on and reduction of the overal office space required to meet the hybrid
working arrangements of our employees, as well as the introduction of selar panels and
more efficient lighting and heating wnere possibre across the properties of 1e group ardits
joint ventures.

Methodology used in the calculation of disclosures

ESCS methodology (as spezified in Complying with the Energy Savings Opportunity Scheme
version B, published by the Environment Agency 21/1/2021) was used in this report in
conjunc tion with Government GHG reporting conversion factors,

Empioyees

Consultations with employees or their representatives have continued at all levels, with the aim
of ensunng that ther views are considered waen decisions are made that are likely to affect
their interests and that all employees are aware of the finanoat and ecaromic business urits and
the company as a whole. Communication with all employees continues through multiple media
and employee engagement surveys are conducted periodically Applications for employment

by disabled persons are always fully considered, bearing in mind the respective aptitudes and
abities of the applicant concerned In tha event of members of staff becoming disab ed, eve-y
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effartis made to ensure that their employment with the compary continues, and the approprate
training is arranged, if required. 1t is the policy of the company that the training, career
development and promaotion of a disabled person should, as far as possible, be identical 1o that of
a persor who does not suffer a disablity.

We continue to work hard to ensure a diverse and inclusive workforce is hired, retained, and can
thrive at INTO and that we take the opportunity 1o overcome inequity. We belicve that this can
only be accomplished with a steady, sustainable, and relentless focus on initiatives that attract
diverse talent, create an inclusive culture, and develop and promote a diverse range of cotleagues.
Wwe have made signi€icant progress in this area, but we are dear there1s much work still to do and
it witl remain a key focus for our executive and management teams.

INTO putlishes & gender pay gap report covering the one entity on which INTC are required by
law to report, as well as voluntary reporting of other UK entities. The full report can be cbtained
from the INTO corporate website at e oo v e Ll v

Branches outside the UK

The following branches exist outside of the UK in addition to the statutory entities listed in
Note 22

» InChina the regional offices n Dalian, Shanghai and Beijing are branches of Guangzhou INTO
Education Ltd (incorporated in China).

« InChina there is also a Beijing branch of DPU (5hanghai) Business Consulting Ltd (incorporated
in China).

+  Schoolapply AG has a branch based in Dubat

« University Access Centre Vietnam has a branch based in Hanoi

Directors’ responsibilities statement

The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Repart and Directors’ Report and the
financial staterents in accordance with applicatle law and regulatiors

Company law requites the dractars 1o prepare financial statements fo- each financial year.
Under that law the direc:o-s have tc arepare the financial statemenits in accordance with United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and
applicable law. including FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and
Republic of -reland”y Under company law the directors must nat approve the financial statements
uless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state cf affarrs and profit

or loss of the company anc group for that period. In preparing these finanaal statements, the
directors are required to.

» select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

* make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

= state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any
materia’ deparures disclosed and explanec n the financial statements;

* prepare the financial statements an the going corcern basis unless it is inaporopriate to
presume that the company and the group will continue in business,

The directors are respo~sible for keeping adequate aczounting records that a-e sufficiert 1o
show and explain the company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time
tha finanzial position: of the company and erable them to ensure that the financal statements
comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of
the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud
and other irregularities.

Statement of disclasure of information to auditor

The directors confirm that:
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« sofaras the directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the
company's auditor is unaware; and

« the directors have taken all the steps that they cught to have takenin order to make
themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the company's
auditor is aware of that information.

The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report in accordance with applicable law
and regulations Having taken advice from the Audit Committee, the directors consider the
arnual report and tie financa statements, taken as a whole, orovides the information necassary
to assess the company’s performance, business model and strategy andis fair, balanced

and understandable.

The directars are responsible for the mainterance and integrity of the corporate and financial
information included on the company's website, Legislation in the United Kingdom governing
the preparation and cissemination of financial statements may differ from legisiation in

other jurisdictions.

Independent auditor

The aud tor, Grant Thorrton JK LLP, have indicated their wilingness to continue in office and a
resolution concerning their re-appointment will be proposed at the Board Meeting,

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by

Sir Dawid Easdtwesd 14/12/2023

Sir David Eastwood. Non Executive Chairman Date

14/12/2023

John Sykes, CEQ Date
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of
INTO University Partnerships Limited

Opinion

We have audited the firancial statemenis of INTO University Partne-ships Lim ted (the ‘parent
company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘group’) for the year ended 31 July 2023, which comprise

the Consalidated statement of comprehensive income, the Consolidated and Company batance
sheets as at 31 juty 2023, the Consolidated and Company statements of changes in equity, the
Consoidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, the principal accounting pali-ies and
notes to the financial statements. The financial reparting framewark that has been applied in
their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial
Reporting Standard 102 'The Financial Reperting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of
Iretand’ {United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Iri aur opirion, the financial statements:

+ give a true ard fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company's a*fairs as at
31 July 2023 and of the group's loss far the year then ended;

= have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice; and

= have been prepared in accordance with the requirements cf the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Internaticnal Standards on Auditing (UK) (15As

(UK)) and applicable law. Qur responsibifities under those standards are further described in the
‘Auditer's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements' secticn of our report. We are
independent of the group and the parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements
that are relevant 1o our audit of the financial statements in the UK, inciuding the FRCs Ethical
Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical respansibilities in accordance with these
requiremens We believe that the aud t evidence we have obtained is sufficient and approariate
ta provide a hasis for our opinion

Conclusions refating te going concern

e are responsible for concluding on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncerta nty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the group’s
and the parent company's ability 10 continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our report to the related disclosures in
the firancial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify the audizor's opinion.
Qur conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our report, However,
future events or conditions may cause the group or the parent company 1o cease to continue as
& going concern.

In our evaluation of the directors’ conclusions, we considered the inherent risks associated with
the group's and the parent company’s business mace! including effects ansing from macra-
ecanomic uncertainties such as reduction in the mobility of international students and rising cost
of living, we assessed and challenged the reasonableness of estimates made by the directors
and the related disclosures and analysed how those risks might affect the group's and the parent
compary's financial resources or ability 12 Zontirue operations over the going concern pernod.

In auditing the financial statemerts, we have concluded that the directors’ use cf the going
concern basis of 2count:ng in the prepa-ation of the finanaial statements s approonate.

Based on the wo < we have parformed, we have rotdentified any maternal uncertainties relating
to events ar conditiors that, indvidually or coitectively, may cast significant doubt an the group's
and the parent company's ability to continue as a going concem for a period of at least twelve
maonaths fram when the finanaal statements are guthonised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going cancern are
described in the relevant sections of this report.
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Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the
financial staterrents and our auditor's repart thereon. The directars are responsitle for the othe”
information contaired within the annual repoart Jur opin on on the financial statements does not
cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon,

Qur responsibility is to read the other information and, in deing so, consider whether the other
informatiar is materially inconsistent wit the financial statemerts or our xnow'‘edge obtained
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there
is a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves If, based on the wark we have
performed, we conclude that there is @ material misstatement of this other information, we are
reguired to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

« theinformation given in the strategic repart and tne directors report for the Fnancial year for
wh ch the fnancial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

« the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accerdance with
applicable legal requirements,

Matter on which we are required to report under the Companies Act 2006

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and its
environment chtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements
in the strategic report or the directors report.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Office For Students (“OFS")
accounts direction {issued October 2019)

In our gpinion, in all material respects.

« funds from whatever source administered by the parent company “or spec fic purpases
have been properly applied to those purpases and managed in accordance with the relevant
legislation; and

« the requirements of the OS's accounts direction (issued October 2019) have been met.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing ta report inrespect of the fellowing matters in relation to which the Companies
Act 2006 requires us to report 1o you it in our opinion:

» adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate
for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us, or

* the parent company financal statements a2 not 10 agreement with the accounting recards
and returns; or

¢ certaindisclosures of di-ectars remuneration specified by law are not made, o

» we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 15, the
drectors a-e respansible for the predaration of the firancial statements and for being satisfiad
that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine
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is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements tha: are ree from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

I preparing the financial statements, the Cirectors are responsible for assessing the group’s anc
the parent company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
gither intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease gperations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives a2 t¢ obtain reascnable assu-ance about whetrer the finandial statements as

a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor's report that includes our opinion, Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not @ guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 1SAs (UK) will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they couwd reasorably be expected 12 nfluerce the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, inciuding fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations, The
extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed
below:

v We oblained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to
the Company and determined that the most significant which are directly relevant to spedific
assertions in the finanaal statements are those related to the reporting frameworks (FRS
102, the Companies Act 2006 and the relevant tax compliance regulations in the UK},

* We communicated relevant laws and regulations and potential fraud risk to all engagement
team members and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compiance with laws
and regulations throughout the audit.

»  Weunderstond how the Group is complying with those legal and regulatory frameworks by
making inquiries of management and those charged with governance. We corroborated our
inquiries through review of board minutes provided by management.

»  We assessed the susceptibility of the Group's financial statements to material misstatement,
inciuding how fraud might occur by meeting with management from relevant parts of the
business to understand arcas where management considered there was a susceptibility to
fraud.

+ Audit procedures performed by the engagement team on the areas where fraud might occur
included:

» ayaluation of the effectiveness of management's controls designed to prevent and
detect irregularities;

* jouwrnal entries testing, with a focus on manual entries, unauthorised user entries and
entries determined to be large or relating to unusual transactions;

= dentifying and testing related party transactions,

»  These audit procedures were designed to provide reasonable assurance that the financial
statements were free from fraud or errer The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from efror and detecting
iregularities that result from fraudis inherently more difficult than detecting those that
result from error, as fraud may involve collusion, deliberate concealment, fargery ar
intentional misrepresentations. Also, the further remgved non-compliance with laws and
regulations is from events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less
likely we would become aware ofit.
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«  Assessment of the appropriateness of the collective competence and capabilities of the
engagement team included consideration cf the engagement team’s:
» understanding of, and practical experience with audit engagements of a similar nature and
complexity through appropriate training and participation;
+ knowledge of the industry in which the Group and parent Company operates; and
» understanding of the legal and regulatory requ rements specific to the Group and the
parent Company.

A further descript.en of our responsitilities far the audit of te financial statements is lacated
on the Financial Reporting Council's website at: ... 7700 e i segooa e o This
description forms part of our auditor's report.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state
to the company's members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report
and for na other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
respansibility t© anyone cther than the company and the company's members as a body, for our
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

W ' 14/12/2023

Adam Terry BSc FCA Date
Senior Statutory Auditor

for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP

Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants

Crawley
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
ended 31 july 2023

Eiare i R TR R ARVt

2023 2023 Non- 2023 2022 2022 Non-

Underlying underlying Underlying  underlying

exceptional excepticnal

items items

£'000 £'000
Group turnover? 1 111,637 - 111,637 96,131 - 96,131
Cost of sales (42,759) - (42,759) (32.939) - {32,939
Gross profit 68,878 - 68,878 63192 - 63192
Administrative expenses P (69.535) (3543) (73.078) (69579) (329 {69,808)
Otherincome 3 202 - 202 38 - 38
Group operating loss 4 (455) {3.543) (3,998) (6,349) (329) (6,678)
Existing operations (455) (3.543) (3,998) {(4516) {329) (4,845)
Acquisitions - {1,833 (1.833)
Share of operating {loss)/ profit injoint 10 {4.362) £10 (3,752) (5.534) 135 (5,399)

ventures

Group and share of joint ventures {4817 {£.933) (7.750) (11.883) (194 (12677

operating loss

Met interest and similar (charges) /credits

Group 3 {4,874) - (4.974) 6635 - 6635
Share of joint ventures 3] (445) - (445) 692 - (£92)
Loss on ordinary activities before taxation (10,236) (25933) (13,169) (5.940) (194} (6134
Tax on loss on ordinary activities of 7 {1.270) 716 (554} (1,927) (100} (2.027)
subsidiaries
Share of joint ventures taxation 7 - - - (24) - {(24)
Loss on ordinary activities after taxation (11,506) (2217 (13,723) (7.891) (294) {8.185)
Loss for the financial year (11,506) (2217 (13,723) (7.891) (294) (8.189)
Currency translation difference on fareign 3,085 - 3,085 (2.220) (2.220)
currency net investments
Total comprehensive loss for the year {8421) {2.217) (10,638} (10111} (294} {10,405)
Attributable to:
Owners of the parent (8.746) (22177  (10,963) (9.404) (294) (9.698)
Non-controlling interests 325 - 325 {707) - {707
{8,421} {2.217) (10,638} (10111} (294} {10.405)

L Adiusted turnover which includes statutory turnover and share of joint ventures’ turnover was £159,586k (2022 £140,797k).

Please see the Strategic Report on page & for details of this.

There is no matenizl difference between the profit on ordinary activities before taxation and the
profit for the currert and prior financial year stated above and their h storical cost ecuvalents

The ~otes on pages 36 to 61 form part of these financial statemants.



DocuSign Envelope {D: 4F52F676-40B1-46E0-ABYA-954137F362AD
INTO UNIVERSITY PARTNERSHIPS LIMITED

Consolidated balance sheet
as at 31 July 2023

R E e N A

2022
£:000
Fixed assets
Intangible assets 8 9,981 10,348
Tangible assets 9 7717 7,801
Investments in joint ventures 10 1.467 1,000
Investments 11 150 150
Total fixed assets 158,315 18,299
Current assets
Debtors
- amounts falling due within one year 12 110,470 93,739
- amounts falling due after one year 1z 14,506 13174
124,976 106,313
(Cash at bank and in hand 14,143 9,437
Total current assets 139,119 116,350
Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 13 (46,687) (22.749)
Accruals and deferred income 13 (69,276) {51,599)
{115,963) (74.348)
Provisions for liabilities: Amounts falling due within one year 14 (91) (3.264)
Net current assets . 23,065 38,738
Total assets less current liabilities 42,380 58,037
Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year 15 (84} {100)
Provisions for liabilities: Amounts falting after more than one year 14 (2,746} (1.375)
Liabilities in respect of joint ventures 10 (46,562} {52,831)
{49,392) (54.306)
Net {liabilities)/assets (7,012} 3731
Capital and reserves
Catled up share capital 17 1,229 1229
Share premium account 2 ¢
Capital redemprtion reserye 75 75
Foreign exchange translation reserve 3,139 54
Non-controlling interests {725} (1,050)
Profit and loss reserve (10,732} 3421
Total shareholders’ (deficit)/funds (7.012) 3731
Tha consal.catec financial staterrents on pages 21 10 61, were approved by the Board of Directors and signed orits behalf ay:
Sir Dawid Eastwosd 14/12/2023 P %/;2/@ 14/12/2023

Sir David Eastwood, Non Executive Chairman Date John Sykes, CEQ Date

The totes on pages 3b to 61 form part of these financial statemants
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Company balance sheet
as at 31

[
3

July 2023

L o 178R S

2023 2022
£000 £°000
Investments 11 36,124 36124
36,124 36,124

Current assets
Debtors 12 26,733 11,483
Prepayments and accrued income 12 877 581
27,610 12,064
Cash at bank and in hand 70 184
27,680 12,248
Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 13 (20,506) {8467
Accruals and deferred income 13 (1.831) {1575}
(22,337} (10,042
Provisions for liabilities: Amounts falling due within one year 14 (33) (221)
Net current assets 5310 1,885
Total assets less current Habilities 41,434 38,109
Net assets 41,434 38,109

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital 17 1,229 1,229
Share premium account 2 2
Capital redemption reserve 75 74
Profit and loss reserve 40,128 36,804
Total shareholders’ funds 41,434 38,109

As permitted by section 408 of the Comparies Act 2006, no separate profit and loss account 1s
presentec in respect of the parent company. The result for the fnancial year ended 31 July 2023
of the parent company was a £3.42Sk profit (2022: £3.607k prefit)

The Anancial statements on pages 21 to 61 were approved by the Board of Directors ard signed
on its behalf by

Sir David Eastweod 14/12/2023

Sir David Eastwood, Non Executive Chairman Date

AT 14/12/2023

Jjohn Sykes, CEQ Date

The notes o1 pages 36 1251 form pars of thase financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 July 2023

Called Share Capital Translation Non- Profit and Total

up share premium redemption reserve controlling loss reserve shareholders’

capital reserve interests funds

£°000 £°000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000

As at 1 August 2021 1,239 2 49 2,274 (343) 10,907 14,128

Lass for the financial year - - - - (707 {7.478) {8185)

Movements in relation to the {10 . 26 - - (8) 8
Management Incentive Plan

Translation Reserve - - - (2,220} - - (2.220)

As at 31 July 2022 1,229 2 75 54 (1.050) 3421 3,731

Profitdloss) for the financial year - - - - 3¢5 (14,048) {13,723

Movements in relation ta the - - - - - {105) (1053
Management Incentive Plan

Translation Reserve - - - 3085 - - 3,085

As at 31 July 2023 1,229 2 75 3,139 (725) (10,732) {7,012)

The credit to the capital redemption reserve during the year represents the buy back of shares
associated with the management incentive scheme.

The notes on pages 36 10 61 form part of these financa staterents
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Company statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 July 2023

Called up Share Capital Hedging Profit and Total

share premium redemption reserve loss reserve shareholders'

capital reserve funds

£'000 £'000 £'000 £000 E'000 £'000

As at 1 August 2021 1,239 2 49 - 33,205 34,495

Profit for the financal year - - - - 3,607 3,607

Meovements in relation to the Management (10 - 25 - 8 7
[ncentive Plan

As at 31 July 2022 1,229 2 74 - 36,804 38,109

Profit for the financal year - - - - 3429 3.429

Mavements in relation to the Management - - 1 - {105) (104)
Incentive Plan

As at 31 July 2023 1,229 2 75 - 40,128 41,434

The credit to the capital redemption reserve during the year represents the buy back of shares
associated with the management incentive scheme

The nates an pages 36 10 61 form part of these financial statements
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Consolidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 July 2023

fe T
SN TR TR

Cash flows from operating activities

Lass for the financial year (13.723) (8.185)
Depreciation charge 1,603 1.454
Amortisation of intangibles 3,127 3,329
Impairment of intanglbles - 272
Loss on disposal of tangible assets - 171
Net interest and similar charges 4,974 (6635)
Share of loss for the financial yea” in joint vertures 3,752 5,399
Share of interest payable by joint ventures 445 692
Taxation 554 2051
Share of profit / (foss) attributable to minority interests 325 (707)
increase in debtors (28,685) 6192
Increase / (decrease) in creditors 20,262 (25)
Cash from operations (7,366} (8.375)
Income tax paid (878} (1,275}
Net cash outflow from operating activities (8.244) (9652)

Cash flow from investing activities

Interest received 1,643 1,488
Interest paid (2,474) (1,366}
Purchase of tangibie fixed assets (1.259) (1229
Purchase of ntangible fixed assets {2.977) (5,441}
Purchase subsidiary (met of cash acquired) (Note 25) - 1016
Dividends received from joint ventures 500 950
Net cash used in investing activities (4.567) (4,581}
Cash flow from financing activities

Amounts borrowed in the year 20,200

Decrease in borrowings (16) (42
Net cash inflow / {outflow) from financing activities 20184 (A2}
Net increase/{decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 7,373 (14.275)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 9,437 20462
Exchange adjustments (2.667) 3.250
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 14,143 9437
Cash and cash equivalents consists of:

(Cash at bank and in hand 14143 8437
Cash and cash equivatents 14,143 8437

The company is 3 qualifying entity for the purposes of FRS 102 and has elected to take the
exempticn under FRS 102, para 1.12(b) nct to present the company s:atemert of cash flows.
The notes or pages 36 to b1 form part of these fnancial statements,
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Principal accounting policies

General information

The company is a private company limited by shares and is incorporated in England, The address
of tsregistered office is One Gloucester Flace, Brighton, United Kingdam, 3N1 4AA.

Statement of compliance

The group and iIndividual financial statements of INTG Univers ty Partnerships Lim ted have been
prepared in compliance with United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting
Standard 102, 'The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and the
Republic of Ireland’ (FRS 102% and the Companies Act 2006.

Basis of preparation

These consclidated and separate financial statements are prepaed or a going concern basis,
under the historical cost convention.

The predarat on of finarcat statements reguires the use of certain critical accounting estimates
It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the group and
company accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimatas are signifcant 1o the financial statements, a2 disclosed
on page 34.

The company has taken advantage of the exempticn in section 408 of the Companies Act fram
presenting .ts individua' profit and loss account.

The Tolluwing ducounting policies have been applied consistently in both the current anrd
preceding periods in dealing withitems which are considered material in relation to the company’s
financia- statements Trese finanzial statemenss are prepared in Pouncs Sterting (£) and i
accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and Financial Reparting Standard 102 (FRS 102),
issued by the Finandial Reporting Coundil.

The functional and presentation currency of the company is considered te be Pounds Sterling (F)
because that is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the group operates.

Exemptions for qualifying entities under FRS 102

INTO University Partnerships Lirmited meets the defin tion cf a cuahfying entizy under =R3%
102 and has therefore taken advantage of the disclosure exemptions available toitin
respect of its separate “nancial statements, which are presentad alangside the consclidated
financia statements.

The company has taken advantage of the following exemptions in its individual
financia statements

¢ from te financial nstrument disclosures, required under FRS 107 paragraphs 1142, 11 44,
11.4511.47,11.48(a)ii). 11.48(a)(iv). 11.48(h), 11.48{c). 12.26,12.27, 12.29(a), 12.29(b)
anc L2.29A as the information is provided in the consolidated financial statement disclosures,

+ from disclosing share-based payment arrangements, required under FRS 102 paragraphs
26.18(b), 26,18 to 26.21 and 26 23, concerning its own equity instruments, as the company
finarca statements are presented with the corsolidated finanzial stztements and the
relevant disclosures are included therein; and

« from disclosing the company key management personnel compensation, as required by FRS
102 paragraph 33.7.

Going concern

The financial statements have been prepared an the going toncer basis, which assumes that
the group will continue to be able to meet its liabilities as they fall due for the foreseeable future.
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The COVID 19 crisis impacted the international education secior and more generally student
mobility. Management have takesn steps to maintain the financial resilience of the group in the
short and long term through diligent liquidity planning including renegotiating the credit facilities
with its bankers.

As aresult, this uncertainty has been considered as part of the groups assessment of the going
concern basis in the preparation of the finznaial statemants In prepar ng this analysis the Board
have considered the group's ability to meet its iabilities based on various levels of reductions

in student numbers, as welt as a number of cost mitigation strategies that can and have

been employed.

The group holds a £30m facility with HSBC Bank plc which has been extended to February 2025.
The covenants for the extension peried to February 2025 move the facility to a quarterly test

of interest caver and teverage from April 2024 reflecting the groups positive perfarmance and
outloak. Management will renegotiate this facility beyond this period at an appropnate time.
Management expect to use this facility in FY24 to continue to invest in future growth strategies
and fund exceptional items. Management continues to monitor compliance with the covenants
required under the agreement. As at 31 July 2023 £20.2m was drawn under this facility

The Board have considered what fevel of reduction in student volumes and corresponding
mitigation would break a facility covenant and do not consider this reverse stress test scenario a
likely occurrence. Based on these circumstances, the Board believe that it remains appropriate to
prepare the finarcial statements an the going concern basis.

After considening the cask flow projections for the per-od ta Fsbruary 2025, the directors
beleve the group nas sufficient funds ta meet its iabitties as they falt due and have accorcingly
prepared the Anancial statements on a goirg toncern basis.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financizl statements include the financial statements cf the company and its
subsidiary undertakings, together with the group's share of results of its joint ventures made up
to 31 July 2023, with comparatives representing an annual year to 31 July 2022

A separate statement of comprehensive incame has not been included for the company by virtue
of section 408 of the Companies Act 2006.

Where the accounting period of an entity within the group is not coterminous with the group's
accounting period of the 12 months to 31 July, the result for that entity for the 12 months to 31
July and the balance sheet at that date are included

Subsidiaries
Acquisitions of subsidiaries are accounted for using the acquisition methad,

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains arising between the company and its
subsicranies are eliminazed in prepar ng 11e consclidated Frangial stetements, Accounting pelic.es
of subsidiaries have been aligned where necessary 1o ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the group In the Jarent company financa statements investments 11 subsidiaries are
accounted for at cost less impairment.

Investments in joint ventures

The rosults, assets and liahilities of a jontly controlled entty are incorporated in tese financia:
statements using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, the investment
in a jointly controlled entity is carred in the balance sheet at cost, plus post-acquisition changes
in the group's share of net assets of the jointly controlled entity, less distributions received and
less any impairment in value of the investment. The group statement of comprehensive income
reflects the group’s share of the -esults after tax of the jointly controllec entity
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where necessary, agjustments are made to financal statements of jaint'y controlled entities to
bring the accounting policies used into line with those of the group.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the group and its jointly controlled entities are
eliminated to the extent of the group’s interest in the jointly controlled entities.

The group assesses investments in jointly controlled entities for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. {f any such
indication of impairment exists, the carrying amount of the investment is compared with its
recoverable amount, being the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Where
the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount, the investment is written down to its
recoverable amount.

in the parent comrpany financial statements investmentsin joint ventures are accounted for at
cost less impairment.

Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for by applying the purchase method.

The cost of a business combination is the fair value of the consideration given, liabilities incurred
ar assumed and of equity instruments issued plus the costs directly attributable to the business
combination, Where control s achleved In stages, the cost is the consideration at the date of
each transaction.

Contingent consideration is initially recognised at estimated amount where the consideration is
probable and can be measured reliably Where (i} the contingent consideration is not considerad

probable or cannot be reliably measured but subsequently becomes probable and measurable or
(i) contingent consideration previously measured is adjusted, the amounts are recognised as an

adjustment to the cost of the business combination.

Onacquisition of a business, fair values are attributec 1o the identifiable assets, habil ties and
contingent liabilities unless the fair value cannot be measured reliably, in which case the value

is incorporated in goodwill. Intangible assets are only recognised separately fram goodwill
where they are separable and arise from contractual or other tegal rights. Where the fair value of
contingent liabilities cannot be reliably measured they are disclosed on the same basis as other
contingent lighilities

Goodwill recognised represents the excess of the fair value and directly attributable costs of the
purchass consideration over the fair values o the group's interest in the identifiable net assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired.

On acquisition, goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units {CGLUSY) that are expected te
benefit fror the combination.

fareign currency translation

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions, Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income Unrealised gains and losses on intercompany bafances are retranslated
at the period end rate and gains and losses are taken tc the translation reserve as apprapriate.

Foreign operations

The assets and liatilities of foreign aperations are translated to Pounds Sterling at exchange
rates at the reporting date, The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated to
Pounds Sterling at the average rate for the year. Exchange differences arsing on retransiation
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of foreign operations from the opening / average rate to the closing rate are recognised in other
comprehensive income and are included in the transiation reserve.

Intangible assets

Computer software
Computer sof tware is amortised over its estimated useful life, of 4 - 7 years, on a straight-
line basis.

Assets under course of construction represents software being developed by the group and
its subsidiaries.

Computer software is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment loss. Software development is capitalised in accordance with FRS10Z section
188H,

Development costs are only recognised once the group has the ability to demonstrate the
technical feasitility of a software project, that the project will generate future ecenomic
benefits, ard the availability of techrical, financial and other resources to complete The
project. Costs that do not fall within this criteria, including research costs and post-completion
maintenance Costs, are taken directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of acquisition of a subsidiary over the group's
share of the fair value of identifiable net assets acquired.

Coodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing The
allocation is made to those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are
expected to benefit from the business combination in which the goocwill arose.

Agency relationships

Agency relationships acquired as part of acquisitions of businesses are capitalised separately
from goodwill as intangible assets if their value can be measured reliably on initial recognition
and it is probable that the expected future econamic benefits that are attributatle tc the
asset will flow to the group.

Coodwill and agency relationships are amortised on a systematic basis over its usefui life,
whicfris 10 -15 years It is believed that the useful life of 10-15 years is appropriate as the
cuntactsin the acquired entities are expected to generate benefizs aver at least this period

At each reporting date an assessment is conducted to review if there is any indication of
impairment. If there is objective evidence of impairment an impairment loss is recognised in
the statement of comprehensive income.

Tangible fixed assets

Tangible assets are stated at histoncal cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment

Historical costincludes expenditure directly attributable to acquisition. Subseguent costs are
included in the assets’ carrying amount ar recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only
whenitis probanle that the future econcmic benefils associated with the ierm wil flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Estimated deprec.ation s made on the following bas s 12w te off the assats over their
estimated useful economic lives:

Land freehold Not depreciated
Buildings freehold 2% straight line
Leasehold improvements Life of the lease
Fixtures and Attings 20% - 25% straight line

Office equ pmant 20% - 25% straight line
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Useful lives and residual values are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance
sheet date.

AN asset’s carrying amount is impaired immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

When an asset is sold or disposed of itis removed from the balance sheet,

Employee benefits

The group provides a rarge cf benef ts to employees, including annual bonus arrangements, paid
holiday arrangemenis and defined contribution pension plans

+ Short term benefits
Short term benefits, including holiday pay and other sim lar non-monetary benefits, are
recognised as an expense in the period in which the service is recelved.

» Defined benefit multi employer plans
Certain of the employees of the group's joint ventures are members of defined benett
pension schemes as a result of their being transferred from the partner university 1o the jeint
venture under TUPE arrangements when the joint ventures were formed. Liabilities in respect
of each joint venture’s reguired contributions to deficit recovery plans are ncluded within
the share of Habihties in relation tojoint ventures at the balance sheet date. Inrelation to a
scheme administered by Newcastle University it has been agreed that liabilities relating to
the recavery of this ceficit will be met by the shareholding companies of NGINTO Limited. &
related company which holds these employees’ contracts of employment A provision of £32k
has therefore been provided in the AnAncial <statemeants recognising the group’s liability in
respect of this ceficit.

» Annual bonus plan
The group operates a number of annual bonus plans for employees. An expense is recognised
in the profit and loss account when The groun has a legal of constructive obligation to make
payments under the plans as a result of past events and areliable estimate of the obligation
can be made.

« Long term incentive plans
The company operates a long term incentive plan for certain key employees and Directors
whichis accounted for under the provisions of FRS102. See Note 21 for details of
the scheme.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised when the group becomes a party o the
contractual provisions of the instrument. All financial assets and hab lities are Teasured at
transaction price and continue to be recognised at that amount unless evidence exists as to any
potential impairment

Bas.c financial assets, including trade and other receivables, cash and bank balances and
investments, and basic financal habihties, including trade and other payables, are recognised at
fair value whichis normally the transaction price.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration recewved or receivable for the provision
of services in the ordinary course of the group's activities. Revenue is shown net of value-added
tax and amounts due to third parties and after elimination of revenue within the group.

Amounts invoiced in advance of services being performed are deferred within creditors due in
less than ane year until the service is performed. Where services are performed prior 1o amounts
being invoiced, amounts are recognised as accrued income within debtors.
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» Tuition
Tuition fees represent all fees chargeable to students or their sponsors, attributable to
the current accounting year, net of discounts. Tuition fees are attributed to accounting
periods based on the tuition actually provided in that period. The costs of any fees waived or
discounts are deducted from tuition fee income,

» Accommodation
Accommodation fees are spread over the pericd of occupancy to which they relate.

+ Catering and other ancillary services
Catering income represents the sale of food and beverages from andillary catening facilities
and other services performed on students’ behs!f Revenues are recognised in the period that
they are provided.

» Management and corporate services fees
Marketing services, management services and other corporate services are provided by the
group toits joint ventures, Such turnover is recognised in the accounting period in which the
services are provided The majority of these fees are casec on services performed aver a fixed
period of time (monthly or quarterly) and are spread evenly over that period

» Progression fees
The group receives contractual payments from certain Universities in relation to students
progressing ta join the University from INTO study centres and from direct applicants joining
the University as a result of marketing activity conducted by the group.

fFor students applying directly to join the University, turnover is recognised at the point
students accept and become entitled to a place to study at the University and is recognised
for all future payments in full less a provision tor estimated student withdrawals.

For students progressing from INTO study centres turnover is recognised based on the
current student cobort and historic student progression data from individual study centres.
Turnover is recognised for all future payments in full less a provision for estimated student
withdrawals, discounted where appropriate

In some cases, INTO has additional abligations relating to the receipt of progression fees,
relating to the provision of scholarships 1o pathway students, In those cases revenues are not
recognised until those ooligations are met.

+ Placement / Commission fees
Contractual payments are recelved from certain education providers in relation to placing
students where the group acts as agent Such turnever i§ recognised at the point students
accept and become entitled to a place to study and only the agency commission due is
recognised as revenue. The Group also receives marketing fees, that are based on student
numbers, lrom its jeint ventures which are accounted for as commission fees and recognised
over the period of tuition

« Student deposits and credit balances
The group holds credits onits balance sheet in relation to deposits and ather credits held
on behatf of students. In some cases in spite of multiple attempts to contact the reievant
individuals the group is unable to identify an account into which to return the funds. These
amounts are released to the Statement of comprehensive income after they become non-
refundable.

+ Rental income
Rental intcome receivabie is recognised in the period to which it relates

« Other income
Other income represents government grants received under the Coronavirus Job retention
scheme. The amounts are recognised using the accrual model.
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Operating leases

Rentals under operating leases are charged 1o the grofit and loss account on a straight-line nasis
over the term of the lease.

Contingent liabilities

Because of the nature of the business it is possible that from time to time the group will enter
into disoutes with third parties. Contirgent | abilities are disclosec if the possibitty of an outflow
of econgmic benefit to settle the obligat on is mare than remcte.

In approving these financial statements, the Board of Cirectors have confirmed therr view that
no further provisions need 1o be booked in respect of such matters See Note 23 for details of
contingent ligbllities.

Share based payments

The group provides share-based payment arrangements 10 certain employees and Directors.
These arrangements include shares which have distribution rights in the event of a share sale
or capital return. Equity settled arrangements are measured at fair value at the date of the
grant. The fair value is expensed on a straight-line basis aver the vesting period. The amount
recognised as an expense is ad usted to reflect the actua numter of shares that will vest, Cash
settled arrangements are measured at fair value and the fair value of the liability is recalculated
at eachreporting date. The Directors take into account various factors, including the scheme
rules, the award value and the likelihocd of a qualifying event when deciding whether 10
recognise an expense in relation to these arrangements.

Taxation

Current tax, including UK corporate tax and foreign tax, is provided at amounts expected to be
paid using the tax rates and laws enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date.

Defarred tax is recognised inrespect of 2l timing differences that have originated but not
reversed at the balance sheet date where transactions or events that result in an obligation to
pay mare tax in the future or a right to pay less tax in the future have occurred at the balance
sheet date and the reversal of these items is deemed hikely. Deferred tax is provided at amounts
expected to be paid using the tax rates and laws enacted or substantially enacted by the balance
sheet date that are expected to adply to the reversal of the timing difference. Defer-ad tax is

not provided for unused tax losses due to current uncertainties surrounding the reversat of the
underlying diffe-ences.

Cash at bank and in hand
Cash at bank and in hand includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, and other short-
term highty liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.

Administrative exceptional items (non-underlying)

The graup ctassifies certain one-off charges or credits thet have a materialimpact on the

group's fnance results as ‘excepnonal items' These ae disc osed separately to provide further
understarding of the financal performance of the group, included in the "non-undeslying” columre
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive Income.

Agent Commission

Commission paid to third party agents, where the entity has a right to recover the payments in
the event the student ieaves before the completion of their course, are deferred on the balance
sheet and recognised over the same pericd as the related student revenue, Payments made
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where the entity has no recourse 1o recover them are expensed as they are earned by the
third party

Dilapidations

Provisions for dilapidations represent management’s best estimate of liabilities in respect of
dilapidations clauses likely to arise on expiry of the group's property leases. These amounts are
included within provisions for liatilities and charges and are discounted at an appropriate rate.

Share capital, share premium and capital redemption reserve

The called-up share capital reserve represents the nominal value of the shares issued. Ordinary
sharas are classied as equity. The share premium reserve includes the premium an issue of
equity shares, net of any issue costs. Incremental costs directly attributabie to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, against share premium The
capital redemption reserve is a reserve generated from the buyback of shares associated with
the management incentive scheme.

Translation reserve

Exchange differences arising on a monetary item that forms oart of the company's net
investment in a foreign operation are recognised in other comprehensive income and are
accumulated in the translation reserve.

Profit and loss reserve

This represents cumulative profits or lesses, net of dividends oaid and uther adjustments.

Critical accounting judgements and estimation uncertainty

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed 10 be reasonable under
the circumstances,

Accounting judgements

» Software capitalisation
The decision to capitalise a software project and recognise within intangible assets is taken
by management when they deem the recognition criteria under FRS 102 to have been met.
Costs incurred priof to this point where the ultimate feasibiity has not been established are
taken to the statement of comprehensive income,

+ Commercial dispute
As detailed in Note 23 the group is subject to an ongoing commercial dispute in relation to
one of its joint ventures. The Board deem it probable that the INTO group will be successful
in this case. Therefore whilst providing for legal costs incurred to date, and for any debt in
relation to this entity that it considers not to be recoverable, the group has continued 1o
recognise income in relation to services provided to the joint venture in the period as the
Board beliove this can be recovered in cash from the relevant joint venture. The Board have
provided in fult for Progression fees due from the partner university, which are still being
reclaimed as part of damages in the ongoing case, but where the likelihood of recovery is not
considered to be sufficient v likely to warrant recognition.

Key accounting estimates and assumptions

In the application of the groups accounting policies the directors are required to make key
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amount of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources The estimates and associated assumnptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant Actual results may
differ from these estimates.
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The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on &n ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and / or future
period as applicable

The following are the key accounting estimates and assumptions that have the Tost sign Fcant
effect or the amounts recognised in the financial statements,

= Progression fees
The estimation of contractual payments in relation to students progressing to partner
Universities from INTO study centres is the [argest estimate in the year The key assumptions
are in relation to student volumes which incorporates a drop-out rate and the discounting rate
which is based on the group’s current cost of borrowing

+ Commission fees
Certain commission fees receivable which relate (o students progressing to partner
universities are based on estimates of the number of students likely to progress as well as
the average commission payable. These calculations are based on past experience and on
increases in the partner's average fees, on which the commissian payable is based.

*  Useful economic lives of tangible and intangible assets
The annual depreciation charge for tangible and intangible assets is sensitive 1o changes in
the estimated useful economic fives and residual values of the assets. The useful economic
lives and residual values are reassessed annually They are amended when necessary to
reflect current estimates, based on technological advancement, future investments, econamic
utilisation and the physical condition of the assets. See Notes 8 and 9 for the carrying amount
and Principal accounting policies far the useful economic lives for each class of assets.

» Capitalisation of costs relating to intangible assets
Internal costs are treated as additions 1o intang bie fixed assets only if they a'e deemed to
meet the criteria associated with development of intangible assets noted above. These costs
include internal staff costs which are recogn sed at an appropriate rate degendent on the
salaries of the individuals involved. Costs relating to intangible assets also include directly
incurred external costs which are recognized as they occur.

+ Recoverability of debtors
Deotors are disclosed in the finarcial statements net of provisions for amaunts that are
not considered likely to be recovered. These amounts are assessed on a case-by-case basis
depending on the specific facts ard circumstances pertaining to esch celtit, and meragemert
considers amounts provided to represent its best estimate of the amounts unlikely to
be recovered.

» Impairment of non-financial assets
In addition to the assessment perfarmed above on usetul ives of tangible and inTangible
assets, non-financial assets are reviewed at least annually far any incications of ImpairTent,
and where there exists an indication that their book values may not be supported by their
value in use or resale value, animpairment is recognised.

« Provisions for liabilities
The provision in the year relates to a charge in respect of settlement of disputes and
associated costs. They also included estimated ligbilities likely to arise on expiry of the group’s
property leases in respect of dilapidation provisions. Management considers these provisions
to represent a prudent assessment of the likely settlement and costs.

» Share based payments
During the year the company recognised a total expense of £nil related to equity share based
payments in the year (2022 £8k} directly to the profit and loss reserve, as wellas a £1C5k
credit within administrative expenses relating 1o management awards that have lapsed, as
aresult of the relevant individuals leaving the company. A credit of £187k (2022 £33k)
related to cash settled share-based payments has also been recognised within administrative
expenses (see Note 21).
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Notes to the financial statements

1 Turnover
2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Geographical analysis
UK 75,165 64,646
North America 29,946 27277
South America 70
Asia 4,222 4,108
Australia 2,234 100
111,637 95,131

Geographical analysis is based on the country in which the services are received.

All turnover is derived from services provided in relation to the provision of education and
marketing services for international students.

2 Administrative exceptional items

Administrative exceptional items totaling £3,543k related to a £1.468k charge in respect

of disputes, restructuring severance costs of £1,875k, arelease of £293k in relation to
irrecoverable debt from related parties, a £488k charge inrespect of Covid recovery bonuses paid,
a credit of E105k inrespect of share based payments, and losses on termination of praperty
leases of £110k.

i the prior year administrative exceptional items totaling £329k related to a charge of £272k in
relation to software impairment, a £550k charge in respect of disputes, restructuring severance
costs of£581k, a release of £901k in relation to irrecoverable debt from related parties, and a
prefit on the reassignment of a property of £173k.

3 Otherincome

2023 2022
£000 £000
Government grants 202 38

Other income in the current year represents amounts received in respect of research and
development tax credits andis recognised as the amounts become due

Other income in the priof year represented amounts received in respect of the government's
Coronavirus ol Support Scheme and was recognised as tThe amounts become due.
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4 Group operating loss

The operating loss is stated after charging/{crediting):

2023 2022

£'000 £'000
Amortisation of intangible assets 3127 33729
Depreciation of tangible assets 1,603 1.454
impairment of intangible assets - 272
Loss on disposai of tangible assets - 171
Operating lease charges 11,802 8,855
Foreign excharge loss (265) (545)

The group received £652k (2022: £393k) in respect of rental income from a third party to
which it sublet a property. The lease agreement contains a break clause which enables either
party to exit the lease with nine manths’ notice

Services provided by the Company's auditors

Fees payable for the audit of the company’s annual 100 80
financizl statements

Fees payable for ather services - audit of 145 131
subsidiaries pursuant to legislation

Fees payable for other services - other adwvisory 8 11

The company's auditors also audit a number of the joint ventures. The amounts disclosed above
do natinclude fees payable by the respective joint ventures for those services.

5 Staff costs

Staff costs comprise!

GROUP 2023 2022
£'000 £°000

Wages and salaries 46,815 41637
Social security costs 5,385 43917
Pension Costs 3,055 3011
55,255 49,560

COMPANY 2023

£000
Wages and salanes 3,477 3,817
Social security costs 493 518
Pension costs 255 251

4,225 4,586




DacuSign Envelope ID: 4F52F676-40B1-46E0-ABOA-954137F362AD
INTO UNIVERSITY PARTNERSHIPS LIMITED

5 Staff costs {(continued)

The average monthly number of employees during the year was as follows:

GROUP 2023 202¢
Number Number
Teaching 293 275
Marketing 237 2483
Admission and enrolment 139 107
Administration 423 413
1,092 1,043
COMPANY 2023 2022
Number Number
Marketing 8 7
Administration 14 16
22 23
Directors’ remuneration 2022
£000

Directors' remuneration consists of:
Emoluments 1,237 919
Payments to defined contribution pensian scheme 24 17
1,261 936

There were & directors ir the company's defired contnbution pension scheme during the year
(2022 2}

The emoluments of the highest paid director in the year were £395k (2022: £410k) Payments
to defined contribution pension scheme inrespect of the Righest paid cirector were £ril
(2022; £14k). Key management personnel are considered to be directors anly and therefore is
disclosed above

As required by the Office for Studerts inits accounts direction Delow a2 the number of staff
with a full time equivalent hasic salary over £100k per annum in bands of £5k. Please note that
as INTO University Partnerships Limited is a global group this disclosure will include any entities it
controls on a worldwide basis.
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5 Staff costs (continued)

GROUP’ 2023 2022
Number of employees with Number of employees with

full time equivalent basic full time equivalent hasic
salary paid in each band salary paid in each band

8
3
5
3
3
3 }
2
4
1
1
1
3

£100.000 to £104,999
£105,000 o £109,999
E110.000t0£114,999
£11500010 £115,999
£120000 1o £124,999
£125000 10 £129.999
£130,000 10 £134,999
£135000 to £139.999
£140,000 o0 £144,999
£145000t0 £149,999
£150,000 to0 £154,999
£155.000te £159.999
£160,000 tc £164,999

W Bm [RVI AN o B s RN

= e

£190,000 1o £194,999 - 2
£195,000 © £199.999 1 -
£200,000 1o £204,559

fa
'

£210,000 10 £214.,589
£215000 10 £219539
£220,000 10 £224.559
£225000 10 £229539
£230,000 10 £234.859 1 1
£235,000 10 £239.55%9
£240,000 10 £244.859
£245000 tc £249559
£250.000 10 £254.599
£255,000 10 £259.599 1

N
= '

' -
=

£285.000 10 £289.999 - 2

£310,00010 £314,999 1 -

£350.000 1o £354,999 - 1

£360,000 to £365,000 1

£395,000 to £399,000 - 1
Total 48 48




DocuSign Envelope 1D: 4F52F676-40B1-46E0-AB9A-954137F362AD

INTO UN{VERSITY PARTNERSHIPS LIMITED

5 Staff costs (continued)

Remuneration of the head of provider

The head of provider's base pay and total remuneration is managed by the INTO Board of
Directors and Remuneration Committee, INTO is a commercial organisation with operations
globally and as such it recruits senicr people against this background. The head of provider is not
only responsible for our UK education centres but also as a member of the Board of Directors The
individual holding the head of provider role has respensibility which extends globally. Base pay
and total remuneration are benchmarked by speciatist advisors using high quality commercially
available data appropriate 1o the role, responsibility and seniority. Performance is assessed
considering objectives set by the Chairman at the beginning of each year with at least mid-year
and end of year reviews against both soecific abjectives and individua competencies required for
the roie it is the responsibility of the Remuneraticn Committee to review and recommend (to the
Board of Directors) regarding a!l aspects of remuneration for the head of provider as well as other
senior employees, This review is compteted at least annually, considering market conditions as
well as company and individual performance, to ensure the package is appropriate.

The head of provider remuncration is disclosed below:

HEAD OF PROVIDER 2023 2022

£'000 £000
Basic salary 234 227
Payments in lieu of pension contributions 11 11

Payments of dividends -

Performance related bonuses - -
Pension contributions

Salary sacrifice arangements 1 1
Compensation for loss of office

Other remuneration - -

Total 246 239

The head of provider's basic salary is 7 times the median basic salary of staff {2022 7 times}
where the median pay is calculation on a full-time equivalent basis for the salaries paid by the
provider toits staff,

Thie total compensation for loss of office is £731k to £8 staff members (2027: £254«t0 11
staff mambers). None of <e compensation fer 1oss of offices related to the head of orowider,
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6 Netinterest and similar charges

GROUP 2023 2022
£°000 £'000
Unrealised exchange (losses)/gains (4,587) 6.512
Bank interest payable (975) (39)
Bank interest receivable 261 31
Loaninterest receivable from related parties 651 757
Other interest payable and similar charges (659) {709)
Other interest receivable and similar credits 335 83
(4,974} 6,635
SHARE OF JOINT VENTURES' 2023 2022
£°000 £000
Urrealised exchange losses (1} -
Bank interest payable (303) (146)
Bank interest receivable 121 11
Loan interest payable to related parties (537) 472
Other interest receivable / (payable) and similar 275 (85)
credits £ {charges)
(445) {692)
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7 Tax onloss on ordinary activities

2023 2022
E£'000 £'000
a} Tax on loss on ordinary activities
Current tax:
UK corparation tax on losses for the year 73 2903
Foreign corporation tax on losses of the year 420 313
Tax charge / (credit) relating to the prior period 224 {1.095)
Total current tax charge 717 2121
Deferred tax:
Effect of changes -n the tax rate -
Origination and reversal of tempora-y differences 76 (124
Tax (credit) / charge relating to the pricr period {239) 54
Total deferred tax (credit) (163) (70}
Tax on loss on ordinary activities including 554 2051
share of joint venture taxation
b) Factors affecting the total tax charge
Loss on ordinary activities before raxation (13.169) (5.134)
Tax calculated at the domestic UK rate applicable (2,765) (L165)
2023 21% (2022 15%)
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible 3,759 2930
Income not taxable (871) (1,067
Adjustments in respect of foreign tax rates 109 (228)
[ifferencein tax rates (2)
Deferred tax not recognised 338 2622
Prior year adjustment (14} (1.041)
Total tax charge 554 2051

) Factors that may affect future tax charges:

Deferred tax has been recognised at a rate of 21% Deferred tax was recognised at a rate of 19%

at 31 luly 2022

Deductible temporary differerces ang unused tax losses far which no deferred tax asset has
been recognised totals £16,793k (2022: £10,806k). This asset has not been recognised in the
financia: stazements due tc current urcertainties surrounding “re reversal of the under yng
differences. Th s deferrec tax assat would oe recoverad if there were future Taxab e profits from
whnch the “eversal of the underlying differerce could be deducted

Mo deferred tax is recognised on the unremitted earnings of overseas subsidiaries as the group

can centrol the timing of any dividends payable.
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8 Intangible assets

Goodwill Agency Computer Assets under
relationships software course of
construction
£000 £000 £'000
Cost
At 1 August 2022 8lle 1,440 14,766 2316 26634
Additions . - 530 4599 5189
Reclassification from assets under - - 4656 (4,656)
construction
Disposals - - Q03) (2.212) {3.115)
Foreign exchange (362) (99) &2 (21) (420)
At 31 July 2023 7,750 1,341 19171 26 28,288

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 August 2022 5640 790 89856 - 16,286
Charge 397 111 2619 - 3127
Disposais - - (903) - {903)
Foreign exchange {236) (B5) a8 - (203)
At 31 |uly 2023 5,801 836 11,670 - 18,307

Net book value
At 31 July 2023 1,949 505 7,501 26 9,981

At 31 July 2022 2472 650 4910 2316 10,348

Disposals include software developed by the group’s subsidiaries that is sold to the group's
joint ventures.

Amortisation Is charged to administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income

The carrying value of the goodwill balance includes £1,355k inrefation ta the acquisition of
International Student Education Services, Inc, which has been subsequently subsumed by the
group's direct entry business. The goodwill is being amortised over 15 years, 5 years of which
remain at 31 July 2023,
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9 Tangible assets

Land & buildings Land & buildings Fixtures & Office
freehold leasehold fittings equipment
improvements
£'000 £°000 £'000 £000
Cost

At August 2022 1032 8129 1847 4,209 15217
Additions - 645 113 501 1,259
Disposals - (49) (329) (1,009) {1,387
Farcign exchange - 125 (23} (67} 35
At 31 July 2023 1,032 8,850 1,608 3,634 15,124

Accumulate depreciation

At 1l August 2022 214 3177 1,093 2932 7.416
Charge for the year 20 645 3723 615 1603
Disposals - {49) {329} (1,009} (1,387
Foreign exchange - (58) (32) (135} (225)
At 31 July 2022 234 3,715 1,055 2,403 7,407

Net book value
At 31 July 2023 798 5135 553 1,231 2,717

At 31 July 2022 818 4,952 754 1277 7801

Depreciation is charged to administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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10 Investments in joint ventures

GROUP 2023 2022
£000 £000

Share of assets

Share of current assets 32,036 33413
Share of fixec assets 6,905 7539
38,941 40,957
Share of liabilities

Liabilities due within ane year (79.261) (86,733)
Liabilities due after more than one year (4,775) (6,050)
Share of net labilities {(45,095) (51.831)

Presented on the balance sheet as:
Investment in joint ventures 1,467 1,000
Liabilities in respect of joint ventures (46,562) (52.831)
(45,095) (51.831)
Share of turnover 47,951 42,226
Share of expenses (51,703) 47625)
Share of operating loss (3.752) {5,399)

Administrative exceptional credits in the year totaling E610k related 1o a release of provisions in
relation to disputes of E£Sk, a credit of £982k from a provision against debts from related
parties, costs of Covid recovery bonuses of £99k, and restructuring costs of £282k.

Administrative exceptional Credits in the prior year totaling £135k related to a release of a
provision in relation to disputes of £281k, a charge of £121k from a provision against debts from
related parties and restructuring costs of £25k

Asignificant joint venture s defined as one which represents 25% of the group's {excluding
joint venturas) gross assets, gross liabilities, turnover or operating result, Results of individually
significant joint ventures are disclosed in note 24.
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11 Investments

Other

Investments

£'000

At 1 August 2022 150
At 31 July 2023 150

COMPANY Investment in Other
subsidiaries investments
£000 £000
Atl August 2022 36,020 104 36,124
At 31 July 2023 36,020 104 36,124

The directors believe that the carrying value of the investments is supported by their underlying
net assets

The directors have reviewed the carrying value of the investment in subsidiaries and other
investments and believe that no impairment of the Company's investments is required due to the
future torecast cash flows o these entitios suoporting the current carrying value.

A fulllist of the subsidiaries and joint ventures of the group can be found in Note 22.
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12 Debtors
GROUP 2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Due within ane year:
Trade debtors 40,920 22098
Amounts owed by refated undertakings (Note 19) 34,969 47,690
Corporation Tax 1,836 28
Other debters 9,355 6180
Prepayments and accrued income 23,390 17,743
110,470 93,739
Due after more than one year:
Amounts owed by related undertakings (Note 19) 4,300
Prepayments and accrued income 10,206 13174
14,506 13174

Trade debtors for the group is stated net of a £235k provision for bad debts (2022 £273k)

Amounts owed by related undertakings are as disclesed by entity in Note 19. These amounts
are unsecured and have no fixed repayment date. Interest is charged on formal loan balarces and
disclosed in Nnre 19

Amounts owed by related undertakings for the group is stated net of a £3,167k provision for
related party bad debts (2022: £2,952k).

COMPANY 2023 2022
£000 £'000

Due within one year:

Trade debtars 139 113
Amounts owed by group undertakings 25,343 10732
Amounts owed by related undertakings (Note 19) 265 298
Corporation tax 475
Deferred tax 414 239
Other debtors a7 101
26,733 11483
Prepayments and accrued income 877 581

Trade debtors for the company is stated net of a £nil provision for bad debts (2022: £nil).

Amaunts owed by group undertak ngs to the campany are unsecured and nave no fixed
repayment date.
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13 Creditors

GROUP 2023 2022
£°000 £'000

Amounts falling due within one year:

Bark loans 20,200 -
Trade creditors 7,631 4525
Amounts owed 1o related undertakings {(Note 19) 2,824 3,229
Other taxation and social security 1222 1,174
Other creditors 14,810 13821

46,687 22,749
Accruals 13114 13558
Deferred income 56,162 38041

638,276 51,599

Amounts owed to related undertakings are as disclosed by entity n Note 18, These amounts
are unsecured and have ng fixed repayment date. Interest s payable on farmal loan balances as
disclosedin Note 18,

Loans due within one year represent the elements of the facilities shown in Wote 15 that are
repayable within one year,

COMPANY 2023 2022
£000 £000

Amounts falling due within one year:

Loans 15,200 -
Trade creditors 48 81
Amounts owed 10 group undertakings 3,580 5174
Amounts owed to related undertakings (Note 19) 1,043 1,056
Corperation tax - 1.491
Other taxation and social security 423 374
Other creditors 21e 291
20,506 8467

Accruals 1,500 1,330
Deferredincome 331 245
1,831 1575

Loans due within one year represent the elements of the facilities shown in Note 15 that are
repayable within one year

Amourts owed to group and related underta<ings are unsecurer ard have no fixed
repayment date.
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14 Provisions for liabilities

Potential
settlement of

disputes
£'000

Amounts falling due within one year:

At1 August 2022 1,130 2134 3,264
Charged - 59 59
Reclassification to amounts due after more than one year - (1,835) (1.835)
Utilised (1,101) - {1.101)
Released to statement of comprehensive income (29) (267) (296}
At 31 July 2023 - 91 91

Amounts falling due after more than one year:

At 1 August 20272 - 1,375 1,375
Charged - 41 41
Reclassification from amounts due within one year - 1,835 1,835
Released to statement of comprehensive income - (505) (505)
At 31 July 2023 - 2,746 2,746
COMPANY Other Total

£'000 £'000

Amounts falling due within one year:

At 1 August 2027 221 221
Charged 55 55
Utilised 17) an
Released to statement of comprehensive income (226} (226)
At 31 July 2023 33 33

Provisions for the Company include £nil (2022: £nil) falling due after more than one year.

On 15th July 2022 proceed ngs were filed ina US court seeking a declaratory judgment inrelation
a commercial dispute to which an INTO group entity is a party. INTO group opposes the declaration
{wh ch has subsequently been dropped) and has filed a claim for damages against the parties wha
breught this action. The same party has also filed another ¢ a min relation to costs incurredin
relation to recruitment of students being stopped for this entity. INTO have prowided for fegal fees
up to 31 July 2023 in relation to this ongoing litigation. Further legal fees in relation to this case are
expected to be incurred in FY24 in respect of this dispute and have been ingluded in the forecasts
for this period Full provision has been made in FY23 against the debt position of INTO group in
relation to this claim . The total provision amount has not been disclosedin relation to this item as it
is deemed it would be prejudicial to do se.

Provisions forliabilities at 31 july 2023 falling due after more than one year comprise costs
of dilapidations.

The directors consider that the provisions cover their best estimate of the likely settlement and costs
ineach case.
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15 Creditors; amounts falling due after more than one year

GROUP 2023 2022
E£'000 £000

Long term

Loans due after one year 84 100

The table below details loan facilities used by the group.

Amount outstanding

Facility Security Interest rate 2023 2022
£000 £000
Revolving credit facility Charge over the company's 3.3% plus SONIA 20,200
assets as disclosed in Note 1.8
Commercial mortgage loan Charge against the freehold 3.8% above the HSBC Bank plc 84 100
agreement property of the group Sterling Base rate
20,284 100

The maturity of long term borrowings is as follows:

GROUP 2023 2022
£000 £'000
Between 2 and 5 years 84 100

16 Analysis of changes in net funds

At 1 August 2022 Foreign Exchange Other At 31 July 2023
£'000 £'000
£'000 £'000
Cash at bank and in hand 9437 (2,667) /373 14,143
Borrowings {10 - (?0,184) (20,284)

Net funds 9,337 (2.667) (12811) {(6,.141)
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17 Called up share capital - Group and Company

Allotted, called up and fully paid 2023 2022

£000 £'000
67,500,000 Al Ordinary Shares of £0.01 each 675 675
22,500,000 B1 Crdinary Shares of £0.01 each 225 225
22,788,800 Deferred Shares of E0.01 each 228 228
6,170861 C Ordinary Shares of £0.01 each 62 &2
100,000 D Ordinary Shares of £0.01 each 1 1
1,000,000 £ Ordinary Shares of £0.01 each 10 10
2,846,341 F Ordinary Shares of E001 each 28 28

1,229 1229

Al Ordinary Shares:

The Al ordinary shares carry one vote on g written resolution and one vote on aresclution on a poll
taken at ameeting. The holders of the Al ordinary shares also have the right to vote on a resolution
on a show of hands at a meeting. On a distribution of capital, the holders of AL ordinary shares

are entitled to participate in accordance with the formulae set out in the Company's articles of
association. The AL ordinary shares are not redeemabte.

B1 Ordinary Shares:

The B1 ardinary shares cary nne ynte nn a written resclution and one vote on a resolution on
apall taken at a meeting. The holders of the B1 ordinary shares also have the right to vote on a
resolution on & show of hands at a meeting, On a distribution of capital, the holders of 81 ordinary
shares are entitled to participate in accordance with the formulae set out in the Company's articles
of assaciation The B1 ordinary shares are not redeemable.

Deferred Shares:

The Deferred shares do not carry any rights to receive notice of or 1o attend or vote at any
general meeting of the Company of 1o feceive 3 topy of or to vote on any written resolution of
the Company. The holders of Deferred shares are not entitled to participate in any dividend or
capital distribution. The Deferred shares are not redeemable.

C, D, € and F Ordinary Shares:

The C, B, E and F ordinary shares do not ¢arry any rights to receive notice of or to attend or vote at
any general meeting of the Company or to receive a copy of or 1o vote on any written resolution
of the Company The C, D, £ and F ordinary shareholders will not have any rights to participate
inany distribution of capital upon winding up except In accordance with the formula set out in

the Comipany's articles of association. The C, D, £ and F ordinary shares are not redeemable. The

F sharesissuedin the year mirmor the benefits of the C shares other than particia2ting inany
distribution in the event of a partial sale.

See Note 21 for details of share based payments issued.
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18 Financial commitments

The following reflects the minimum total future commitments under operating leases for the
group companies analysed by the remaining uncancellable lease term:

GROUP 2023 2022
£'000 £'000

Land and Buildings:

Within one year 12611 11.466
Between two years and five years 53,800 44,740
After five years 345,821 186,827
412,232 243,033

COMPANY 2023 2022
gE‘'000 £'000

Land and Buildings:

Within one year 447 6549
Between two years and five years 1154 2,326
1,601 2975

The lease payments recognised as an expense in the year are £11,802k (2022 £8,855k)

There are debentures over assets heldin INTO University Partnerships Limited, INTO Manchester
Limited, INTQ London World Education Centre Limited, Delta Language Training & Consultancy
Limited, INTO London MOX Street LLP Friars 607 Lirited, Newincco 1306 Limited, Newincco
1183 Limited, INTQ Newcastie University LLP and INTO USA LP in relation to a Revolving Credit
Facility in place with HSBC PLC. In addition, there is a Security Agreement in place with IUP 2 LLP
in relation to the same credit facility which grants security over its assets. As at 31 July 2023
£20.2mof the £30m revolving credit facility was drawn (2022: Enil}.
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19 Related party transactions

The company has taken advantage of the exemptions available under FRS 102, not to disclose
any transactions or balances with entities that are 100% controlled by INTO University
Partnerships Limited.

The fundamental core of the group's business model is entering into joint venture partnerships
with leading Universities ta furnish averseas students with the requisite qualifications to e~ter
onto undefgraduate or postgraduate courses at those establishments.

The group provides Management and Carporate Services to these partnerships, and also makes
loans to and receives loans from these partrerships at the interes: rates specified below.

During the year the group entered into the following transactions with related parties, and had
the following balances at year end

2023 2023 2023 2023 2023 2023

£'000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000

Sales Purchases Interest Trading Loan Interestrate

receivable/ balance
(payable)

INTO UEA LLP 2,309 387 - 162 2,225 None
INTO University of Exetar LLP 5431 166 - (1.045) - N/A
INTO Scotiand LLP - - - - - N/A
INTO Queen's LLP 3,457 250 63 827 1,150 Bok
Base+2%

INTO City LLP 3,786 136 - 243 (2,000} None
INTO USF ing 2121 284 - 727 - N/A
INTO Qregon State University inc 6,959 - 69 2,939 786 8%
INTO CSU LLC (106) - - 4,085 983 5%
INTO Marshall LLC - - - - - N/A
INTO Mason LLC 1,437 - - 1,773 2,241 5%
INTO New York at Orew LLC 1,786 1 316 77 5818 5%
INTO Stirling LLP 1,335 21 - 109 4,300 None
INTOUAB LLC 1,789 19 {73} 1,793 3,146 4%
INTO Washington State University LLC (3.347) - - (6) - N/A
INTO Illinois State University LLC (896} 310 a9 8 - N/A
INTO Suffzik LLC 2,487 - 176 3,284 2,753 6%
Espatier Ventures Limited 15 1 - 76 - N/A

Criterion Enterprises Limited - - - - - N/A
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19 Related party transactions (continued)

2022 2022 2022 2022
£000 £'000 E'000 £000

Purchases Interest Trading Interest rate
receivable balance

INTOUEALLP 1,945 83 - 124 - None
INTQ University of Exeter LLP 4721 1 - (1050 - N/A
INTO Scotland LLP (1127} - - - - N/A
INTO Queen's LLP 2882 7 19 1,000 1150 BoEBase+?%
INTO City LLP 3325 18 - (2179 - None
INTO USF inc 2029 - - 2332 - N/A
INTO Oregon State University inc 3135 - 66 2416 821 8%
INTO CSU LLC - - - 4448 1.005 5%
INTO Marshall LLC (2.867) (2} - - - N/A
INTO Mason LLC 1.252 (3) - 2137 2339 5%
INTO New York at Drew LLC 894 - 308 67 5827 5%
INTO Stirling LLP 991 4 - 159 4300 None
INTO UAB LLC 370 - 66 2441 3,283 49
INTO Washingten State University LLC 1 - 165 2059 2,749 N/A
INTQ Illinois State University LLC 15 - - (515) 4924 6%
INTO Suffalk LLC 1,764 - 173 1722 2837 6%
Espalier Ventures Limited 2z 63 - - - N/A
Criterion Enterprises Limited 78 - - 78 - N/A

Allloars and trading balances are unsecured and have na fixed repayment date, with the
exception of the lnan to INTO Stirling LLP which 1s due for repayment in 2038, according to the
terms of the formal loan agreement signed in August 2022,

Alirelated parties identified anove are 50% owned by the group, with the excestior of Espaser
Yentures Limited, which is the group's ultimate parent company, and Criterion Enterprises Limited,
a company with | B Sykes as a common director.

20 Ultimate controlling party

The company’s immediate parent and ultimate parent undertaking is Espalier Ventures Limited, a
company registered in the United Kingdom. The ultimate controlling party is A j Colin,

Accordingly, the largest and smallest group into which the results of the company are
consalidatec, as a7 31 July 2023, is Espalier Yentures Limited These financial statements are
availanle to she public ang may be obta ned from the registered office at One Gloucaster Place,
Brighton, BN1 4AA
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21 Share-based payments

The company has a Management Incentive Plan ("MIP"} where certain key employees and
Directors have been awarded C, 0, and F shares in the company.

Details of the shares awarded are as follows:

Total number of

shares awarded £'000
| B Sykes 100,000 1
S G Smale 1,997,652 20
DS Eastwood 258,000 P
All other qual:fying staff 6.761.550 68
Total 9,117,202 91

The shares will vest on a Share Sale or Capital Return. Subject to the vesting conditions, the
amount available for distributicn 1o the shareholders is based on a defined nurcle share value.
The value of the shares when the capital distribution amount exceeds the hurdte share value is
dezermined us:ng a formula defined in the Articies of Association of the company.

The value of the shares is determined using a capitalisation of earnings method which
encapsulates the growth prospects and risks related to the future earnings. Costs are recognised
aver the duration of the vesting period, The company recognised a total expense of £nil related
tn equity share based payments in the year (2022: £8k), and an expense of [187k {022 £33k)
related to cash settled share-based payments.
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22 Subsidiaries and joint ventures of the group

The subsidiaries and joint ventures of the group are shown below tagether with details of their
main activities.

Directly held subsidiary undertakings Country / State  Holding Main activities

of incorporation
INTO Manchester Limited (Registered No 06438137} * (1) England & Wales  100% Educational services
Delta Language Training & Consultancy Limited (Registered No. 02876005)  England & Wales  100% Educational services
(1)
Friars 607 Limited (Registered No 06885738) * (1) England & Wales  100% Investment holding Company
iUP East Anglia Limited (Registered No. 06296000} * (1) England & Wales  100% Investment holding Company
INTQ Exerer Limited (Registered No. 05980246) * (1) England & Wales  100% Investment holding Company
INTO Newcastle Limited (Registered No. 06030536} * (1) England & Wales  100% Investment holding Company
Newincco B21 Limited (Registered No. 06556353) * (1) England & Wales  100% Investment holding Company
Newincco 921 Limited (Registered No. 06858769) * (1) England & Wales  100% Investment holding Company
Newincco 92¢ Limited (Registered No, 06858821} * (1) England & Wales  100% Investment holding Company
INTO Medical Limited (Registered No. 07601122) * (1) England & Wales  100% Investment holding Company
INTO UOG Limited (Registered No. 08404156) * (1) England & Wales  100% Investment hoiding Company
INTO University Partnerships (Asis) Limited (&) Hong Kang 100% Educational services
JUP 2 LLP {Registered No. 0C376452) * (1) England & Wales  100% Provision of corporate services
Newincco 1183 Limited (Registered No. 08068260) = (1} England & Wales  100% Dormant
Newinceo 1300 Limited (Registered No, 03083887) ~ (1) England & Wales  100% Investment holding Company
INTOGPLP (3} Delaware, USA 100% Investment holding Company
INTO Newcastle Line East Property Limited {Registered No. 09061279) * (1) England & Wales  100% Development of building projects
INTO York Property Limited (Registered No. 08848481) * (1) England & Wales  100% Development of building projects
INTO MAS Limited (Registered No. 09738488) * (1) England & Wales  100% Educational services
MAS Education SAS (4) (Cclombia 100% Educational services
Espalier Property Project 004 Limited (Registered No. 07331859) * (1) England & wales  100% Other letting and operating of

own or leased real estate
Into Education India Private Limited {25) India 100% Educational services
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22 Subsidiaries and joint ventures of the group (continued)

Indirectly held subsidiary undertakings

IUF Asia Limited () Hong Kong 100% Educational services

INTO TEFL Limited (Regrsterad No. 07269199 * (1) Ergland & wWales  100% Fducational services

INTO London MDX Street LLP {Registered Mo OC346265) * (1) England & Wales  100% Educational services

INTO China Limited (2) Hong Kong 100% Educational services
Guangzhou INTO Education Limited (5) China 100% Educational services

INTO London World Education Centre Limited (Registered No. 07956508) * (1) England & Wales  100% Fducational services
INTOLUSALP(3) Delaware, USA 100% Investment holding Campany
INTO North America Inc {3) Delaware, USA 100% Provisicn of carporate services
International Student Education Services, Ing (6) Delaware, USA 100% Educational services

INTO London STEM Medicine and Health Ltd* (1) England & Wates  100% Educational services

INTO Global Sennce Centre Limited (2) Hong Kong 100% Educational services
Newincco 1184 Limited = (1} England & Walos  E00% Dormant

INTO USF LP{7) Delaware, USA 100% Investment holding Campany
University Access Services HK Limited (2) Hong Kong 100% Educational services

DPY Global Limited {7) Hong Kang 100% Educational services

DPU (Shanghar) Business Consulting Co, Ltd {19) China 100% Educational services

INTO Lang [sland [T (20} New York, USA 100% Educational serwces
Schootapply AG (21) Switzerland 100% Educational services
Unwersity Access Centre Vietnam Company Limited {22) Vietnam 100% Educational services

Into Australia Py Limited (24) Austrahia 100% Investment holding Company
Inta Perth Pty Limited (24) Australia 100% Educationat services

Into {(Malaysia) SON. BHD. (26) Malaysia 100% Educational services

INTO MNewcastle University LLP (1) England & wWales  51% Educational sensices
University Access Centre SAS (£7) Colomtiia 100% Educatianal services

FT INTO Global Indonesia (28) Indonesta 100% Educational services

INTO SLU LLC (15) Delaware, USA 100% Cducational services
University Access Centre Kazakhstan LLP (29) Kazakhstan 100% Educational services

Uni Access Centre (Thaitand) Co. L1d (3C) Thaifand 48% Educational services

INTC Giobal MENAFZ- LLC (31) Duba 100% Edurationat services

UAC Serv-ces Pakistan [ Private) Ltd 132) Pakistan 99.9% Educational services

ILP Access Services Nigena Limited (33) Nigena 100% Educatonal services

INTC Lancaster Limited (Registered No 14819227) = (1) Sngland & Wales  100% Educationat services

Country / State
of incorparation

Holding Main activities
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22 Subsidiaries and joint ventures of the group {continued)

Indirectly held interests in joint ventures Country / State  Holding Main activities
of incorporation

INTOUZALLRP(8) England & Wales  50% Educational services
INTQ University of Exeter LLP (1) England & Wales  50% Educational services
INTO City LLP (1} England & Wales  50% Fducational services
INTO Queens LiLP (S) Northernlreland  50% Educational seryices
INTO Gregon State University Ing (10) Delaware, USA 50% Educational services
INTQUSF Inc (7) Delaware, USA 50% Educational services
INTOCSULLC{11) Colorado, USA 50% Educational services
INTO New York at Drew LLC (13} Delaware, USA 50% Educational services
INTO Mason LLC {13} Virginia, USA 50% Educational services
INTO Stirling LLP (14} Scotfand 50% Educationsl services
INTOUAB LLC (16) Alabama, USA 50% Educational services
INTO Suffolk LLC {17} Delaware, USA 50% Educational services
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22 Subsidiaries and joint ventures of the group (continued)

* exemat from the requirements of the Companies Act re'ating to the gudit of individual financial staterrents by wirtue
of $4794

= exenpt from the requirements of the Companies Act re'ating 1o the 3udit ot indwidual financial statemrents by virtue

of 53944 in respect of Dormant Comaanies

Reg stered address' One, Gloucester Place, Brighton BN1 4AA

Reg stered address: Jiit 1007, LO/F, W ng On Kewoon Centre, Na 345 Nathan Road, Jardan, <cw!car, Hong Kong

Registered address: Suite 400, 891C University Center Lane, CAS2127

Registered address: Carrera 15, No B8-64, Edificio Torre £imma, Oficina 707, Bogota, Cundnimaice. 11011 Colombia

Repistered address: Office 2002, Teem Towel, Teemall, 208 Tianhe Read.Tianhe District. Guangzhou. 510620 PR,

Chna

Registered address. Suite 305, 1610 Medical Orive, Pottstown, PA, 19464

Regstered address, 4202, East Fowler Avenue, Tampa, FI, 33620

[ I U

6

7

8 Reg stered address: The Registry, University af East Angha, Morwich, Norfo k, NR4 7T)

g Reg stered address. 2-B Lenncxvale, Belfast, Lo Antnm, BTS 5BY

10 Regstered address 1701 SW Western Blvd, Corvallis, OR 57333

11 Regstered address, 180 Old Mair Orive, Fort Celling, C0, 80523

12 Registered address: 26 Madisor Avenue, Madison, N 0794C

13 Reg stered address 4352 Mascn Pond Drive, Farrfax, VA 22030

14 Reg stered address Uriversity of Stirling. Surlirg, FK9 4LA

1S Regstered address. Suite 110, Beracha Hall, 3721 Laclede Avenue, St Laurs, MD. 653108

16 Registered address. Ficor 2,917 13th Steet South, Sirmengnam, AL, 35294

17 Regstered adidress. 13 Kruegal Hall, Pullman, WA, 89164

18 Regstered address. 304 S University St, Fell Hall, Normai, 12 6171

19 Regsrered address, 1107111, Block 17, wencuw Plaza Suzhou Dushu Lake Science Education and Irnovation District

20 Registered address' (/0 Corporation Service Company, 80 Stat Street, Alnany, New Yo'k 12209

21 Registered address: Bahnhofstrasse 7, CH-6300 Zug , Switzerard

22 Regstered address: Cround Floor and Mezzame, Aan Mirh Tower, No 56 Ngayen Dinh Cheeu Street, Da <ao Ward,
District 1, Fo Chi Mirh Ciey, Vietnam

23 Registered address, Corporation Service Company, 251 Little Falls Drive, Wilmingtar, New Castle, DE 15808

24 Regwstered address, Leve! 27, 2 The Esplanade, Perth, Western Austral a WA 5000, Australia

25 Regstered address 623, 6th =oor, Commercia Complex, OL7 Towe:-B, [asola. Scuth Delhi, India 110025

26 Registered address Unit 30-01, cevel 30, Towe- A, Vertical Business Suite, Avenue 3 Bangsar South, Yo B jalan
Kerinchi, Kuala Limpur, Malaysia

27 Registered address' Unit Averda Calle 26 59 51 Torre A Gf ona 311, Bogeta, Calombia

2B egstered address' Puni Irdat Sinancial Tower (FIFT) Umit 7. _evel GF. alan Pun L ngkar Jalam, Desa/<elurakar kelapa
dua, Ker keton jeruk, Kota Adm, Jakarta Barat, Prowins) DKI akata, Kode Pos. 11610, Indonesia

29 Registered address. Kazachstan, Almaty oy, Medeu district. Jostyk avenue, 3d 188 posta cede 35CC00

30 Registered address. 571 RSJ Tower, 8th Floar, Roon BOS, Saxhuvit Road, Mot Klongton Sab-distncr, Wattara
Jistrct, Bangek

31 Registered addiess 114 Frstfloos Block No 03, Dubal Knaw edge Parg, Duba:, Jrited Arab Emirates

32 Registered address Off ce #1, 29-0, Main GLiberg OFf Main Boulevard Latere

33 Registered address. Ade Hcuse, 15 CIPM pvenue, Central Business DIStnct, A ausa, Lagos, lkeja. _agos Srate
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23 Contingent liabitities

On 15th wly 2022 proceedings were filed in a US court seeking a declaratory judgment in
relation to a commercial dispute to which an INTO group entity is a party. INTO group oppases
the declaration {wh ch has subsequently been dropped) and ras fled a claim for damages against
the parties who brought this acticn The same party has alse filed another claim in relatior to
costs incurred in refation to recruitment of students being stopped for this entity INTO have
provided for legal fees up to 31 |uly 2023 in relation to this ongoing litigation. Further legal fees
inrelation to this case are expected to be incurred in FY24 in respect of this dispute and have
been included in the forecasts for this period Full provision has been made in FYZ3 against the
debt position of INTC group inrelation to this claim . The total provision amount has not been
disclosed in relation to this item as it is deemed it would be prejudicial to do so.

24 Financial information for individually significant joint ventures
of the group

INTO UEA LLP 2023 202z
£'000 £'000

Share of assets

Share of current assets 3,136 3.804
Share of fixed assets 538 553
3,674 4,356
Share of liabilities
Liabilities due within one year (9.887) (4,960}
Liabilities due after one year - (3.500)
Share of net liabilities (6.213) (4,104
Share of turnover 4,003 4,303

Share of operating loss (1,972} (1,579}
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25 Acquisition
There were No acquisitions or disposals in the current year.

In the prior year, in L August 201 the group acquired an additional 50% shareholding in INTQ
SLU LLC, which took the group's overall shareholding to 100%.

The group has therefore used acquisition accounting to account for the purchase, and the results
of the LLP have been consolidated into the group's resutts from that date,

The following tab es set out the fair values of the identifiable assats and liabilities acquires

£'000
Tangible assets 114
Intangible assets 317
Cash and cash equivalents 1,016
Trade and other debtors 1,645
Trade and other creditors {3.081)
Net liabilities acquired 11

No consideralion was paid as a result of this transaction The effect of the ransacton within the
groud financial statements was to dispose of the group’s share of liabilities injoint ventures of
E6k and acquire net liahilities of £1 1k, and to generate additional goodwill of £69k, as a result of
the additional capital acquired for zero consideration.
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For more information visit intoglobal.com or contact us:

Europe, Middie East, Africa and Asia
North America

INTO University Partnerships INTQ University Partnerships
One Gloucester Place Unit 1007, 10/F
Brighton, East Sussex Wing On Kowloon Centre
BN1 4AA, United Kingdom 345 Nathan Road
T. +44 {0)1273 665200 Jordan, Hong Kang

T: +852 2105 6800

£ @intoglobal

m www.linkedin.com/company/inta-university-partnerships

INTO®

© INTO University Partnerships Ltd, December 2023, All tontent published in this document is believed accurate at time of
publication. INTO reserves the right to alter details of ali aspects of its operation without notice.

HUP 2 LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Waies, registered number 0(376452. Registered office:
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